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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ALASKA 

 
______________________________________ 
      ) 
      ) 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,   ) 
      ) 
 and      ) 
      ) 
STATE OF ALASKA,    ) 
        )          
              Plaintiffs,   ) 
      ) 
   v.    )        
      )          Civil No.  
BP EXPLORATION (ALASKA) INC., )  
      )  COMPLAINT 
   Defendant.   ) 
________________________________________ ) 
 
 
 
 The United States of America, by authority of the Attorney General of the United States, 

acting at the request of the Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection Agency 
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(EPA), and the State of Alaska, through the Attorney General of the State of Alaska, acting at the 

request of the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, file this Complaint and allege 

as follows: 

NATURE OF ACTION 

1. This is a civil action against BP Exploration (Alaska) Inc. (BPXA) seeking (a) 

assessment of civil penalties for violations of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311, 

1319, 1321, as amended by the Oil Pollution Act of 1990, 33 U.S.C. § 2701 et seq.; and 

(b) civil assessments, injunctive relief, attorney fees, and costs for violations of 

AS 46.03.710 and AS 46.03.740.  The claims against BPXA arise from four unauthorized 

discharges of oil into navigable waters of the United States and the waters or land of the 

state from BPXA’s pipelines on the North Slope of Alaska from 2007 to 2011. 

DEFENDANT 

2. Defendant BPXA is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in 

Anchorage, Alaska. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant was the operator of the 

Greater Prudhoe Bay Unit on the North Slope of Alaska.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(b), 

1321(b)(7)(E), and (n), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, 1355, and 1367. 

4. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7)(E) and 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1391 and 1395 because the violations that are the subject of this action occurred in this 

district, and Defendant is located in and does business in this District. 
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STATUTORY BACKGROUND 
(CLEAN WATER ACT) 

 
5. The Clean Water Act prohibits the discharge of any pollutant, including oil, by any 

person, except as authorized by and in compliance with other sections of the Act.  33 

U.S.C. § 1311(a). A “discharge of a pollutant” includes “any addition of any pollutant to 

navigable waters from any point source.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12). “Navigable waters” are 

defined as “the waters of the United States, including the territorial seas.” 33 U.S.C. 

§ 1362(7). 

6. The Clean Water Act authorizes the Administrator of the EPA to, inter alia, issue 

compliance orders for discharges of pollutants prohibited under 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a). 33 

U.S.C. § 1319(a). This Act also authorizes the Administrator of the EPA to commence a 

civil action for appropriate relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction, for any 

violation for which the Administrator is authorized to issue a compliance order under 33 

U.S.C. § 1319(a). 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b). 

7. The Clean Water Act prohibits the discharge of oil into or upon the navigable waters of 

the United States and adjoining shorelines in such quantities as the President determines 

may be harmful to the public health or welfare or the environment of the United States. 

33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(3). This Act defines “discharge” to include “any spilling, leaking, 

pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying or dumping . . . .” 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(2). 

8. Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(4), EPA has determined by regulation that the quantities 

of oil that may be harmful to the public health or welfare or the environment of the 

United States include discharges of oil that violate applicable water quality standards, or 

cause a film or sheen upon or discoloration of the surface of the water or adjoining 
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shorelines, or cause a sludge or emulsion to be deposited beneath the surface of the water 

or upon adjoining shorelines.  See 40 C.F.R. § 110.3. 

9. The Clean Water Act provides that: 

Any person who is the owner, operator, or person in charge of any vessel, onshore 
facility, or offshore facility from which oil or a hazardous substance is discharged 
in violation of [Section 311(b)(3) of the CWA], shall be subject to a civil penalty 
in an amount up to $25,000 per day of violation or an amount up to $1,000 per 
barrel of oil or unit of reportable quantity of hazardous substances discharged. 

 
33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7)(A). The penalty amounts provided for by the Clean Water Act have been 

adjusted upwards for inflation by the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990 

(28 U.S.C. § 2461) and Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996 (31 U.S.C. § 3701), and 40 

C.F.R. § 19.4. 

STATUTORY BACKGROUND 
(STATE LAW) 

 
10. Under AS 46.03.710, a person may not pollute or add to the pollution of the air, land, 

subsurface land, or water of the state.  Under AS 46.03.740, a person may not discharge, cause to 

be discharged, or permit the discharge of petroleum into, or upon the waters or land of the state.  

Under AS 46.04.020 and AS 46.03.780, a person causing or permitting the discharge of oil must 

immediately contain and clean up the discharge, including restoration of affected natural 

resources.   

11. Under AS 46.03.760(a), a person violating AS 46.03.710 or AS 46.03.740 is liable to the 

State in a civil action for a civil assessment in a sum to be assessed by the court of not less than 

$500 nor more than $100,000 for the initial violation, nor more than $5,000 for each day after 

that on which the violation continues.   
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12. In an action under AS 46.03.760 for a discharge of oil, the State may recover full 

reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred by the State in maintaining the action under 

AS 46.03.763. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

13. BPXA is a “person” within the meaning of 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5) and state law. 

14. On October 15, 2007, a discharge of oil occurred from the DS-16 flowline in the Greater 

Prudhoe Bay Unit. BPXA reported an estimated 46 barrels (or 1932 gallons) of oil mixture 

spread over nearly an acre of tundra wetlands, in the area of Flow Station 2. 

15. On November 29, 2009, a discharge of oil occurred from a line carrying crude oil, natural 

gas, and produced water near the Lisburne Production Center in the Greater Prudhoe Bay Unit. 

BPXA reported an estimated 321 barrels (or 13,482 gallons) of oil mixture covered 8,400 square-

feet of tundra wetlands, about a mile away from the Lisburne Production Center. 

16. On December 21, 2009, a discharge of oil occurred from a line carrying crude oil, natural 

gas, and produced water from a wellhead near Drill Site 6, Well 11 in the Greater Prudhoe Bay 

Unit. BPXA reported an estimated 12 barrels (or 504 gallons) of oil mixture covered the tundra 

wetlands. 

17. On July 18, 2011, a discharge of oil occurred near Lisburne Production Facility Drill Site 

L-1 in the Greater Prudhoe Bay Unit. BPXA reported an estimated 42 barrels (or 1764 gallons) 

of oil mixture covered approximately 2,040 square feet of wet and aquatic tundra and 

approximately 4,960 square feet of gravel pad. 

18. Each leak discolored the surface of those waters, wetlands, and the adjoining shorelines. 

19. The Putuligayuk River, the Kuparuk River, the Sagavanirktok River, the Beaufort Sea, 

the unnamed tributaries of those bodies of water, and the wetlands adjacent to those bodies of 

water, into and onto which BPXA discharged oil, constitute “navigable waters of the United 
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States” within the meaning of Sections 311(b)(3) and 502(7) of the CWA and the waters or land 

of the state within the meaning of state law. 

20. Crude oil and mixtures of crude oil are “oil” within the meaning of Section 311(b)(3) of 

the CWA. 

21. The oil transit, flow lines, and well lines located in the Greater Prudhoe Bay Unit are 

each an “onshore facility” within the meaning of Section 311(b)(7) of the CWA. 

22. The oil transit, flow lines, and well lines located in the Greater Prudhoe Bay Unit are 

each a “point source” within the meaning of Section 502(14) of the CWA. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Civil Penalties under Section 311(b) of the Clean Water Act) 
 

23. The allegations of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

24. On October 15, 2007, November 29, 2009, December 21, 2009, and July 18, 2011, 

discharges of oil occurred from the Greater Prudhoe Bay Unit into the navigable waters and/or 

adjoining shorelines in violation of Section 311(b)(3) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(3). 

25. BPXA, as an owner and/or operator of the Greater Prudhoe Bay Unit at the time of the 

discharges, is liable for a civil penalty of up to $1,100 per barrel discharged, pursuant to Section 

311(b)(7)(A) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7)(A), and 40 C.F.R. § 19.4. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 (Civil Assessments, Injunctive Relief and Monitoring Costs under State Law) 

26. The allegations of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

27. On October 15, 2007, November 29, 2009, December 21, 2009, and July 18, 2011, 

discharges of crude oil occurred from the Greater Prudhoe Bay Unit into or upon the waters or 

land of the state in violation of AS 46.03.710 and AS 46.03.740.   
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28. BPXA, as an owner and/or operator of the Greater Prudhoe Bay Unit at the time of the 

discharges, is liable to the State under AS 46.03.760(a) for a sum to be assessed by the court of 

not less than $500 nor more than $100,000 for each violation of AS 46.03.710 or AS 46.03.740, 

nor more than $5,000 for each day after that on which the violations continue.   

29. Under AS 46.03.763, BPXA is also liable to the State for the full reasonable attorney fees 

and costs incurred by the State in maintaining this action.   

30. Under AS 46.03.765, AS 46.03.780 and AS 46.04.020, BPXA is responsible for 

completing environmental restoration under its restoration plans approved by the Alaska 

Departments of Natural Resources and Environmental Conservation, and reimbursement of the 

State’s costs of monitoring that environmental restoration work under AS 46.03.760(d), 

AS 46.03.780 and AS 46.03.822.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, based upon all the allegations set forth above, Plaintiffs pray that this 

Court: 

1. Impose civil penalties on Defendant in an amount of up to $1,100 per barrel of oil 

discharged in violation of Section 311(b)(3) of the Clean Water Act;  

2. Impose appropriate civil assessments on Defendant for violations of AS 46.03.710 and 

AS 46.03.740; 

3. Require Defendant to complete environmental restoration under its approved restoration 

plans and reimburse the State’s monitoring costs;  

4. Award the State’s full reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred by the State in 

maintaining this action; 

5. Award the United States its costs of this action; and  
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6. Csrant such other relief as the Caurt deems just and proper.

Respectfuiiy submitted,
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